## Case No. S241434

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

EDUARDO DE LA TORRE and LORI SAYSOURIVONG, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs/Petitioners,

v.

CASHCALL, INC.,

Defendant/Respondent

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

On Certified Question from the
United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit
Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548
Ninth Circuit Case Nos. 14-17571, 15-15042

### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF

STEVEN M. TINDALL (SBN: 187862)
ANDRE M. MURA (SBN: 298541)

smt@classlawgroup.com
amm@classlawgroup.com
GIBBS LAW GROUP LLP
505 14th Street
Suite 1110
Oakland, CA 94612

### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

The sole question before this Court is one of statutory interpretation:

Can the interest rate on consumer loans of \$2500 or more governed by California Financial Code § 22303 render the loans unconscionable under California Financial Code § 22302?

(De La Torre v. CashCall, Inc. (9th Cir. 2017) 854 F.3d 1082, 1084.)

### INTRODUCTION

In enacting statutory limitations on lending, Legislatures face the predicament that lenders may specifically design their products in an attempt to avoid the consumer protections of the state. Defendant CashCall, Inc. attempted to do just that. Based on a strategic misapplication of the California Finance Lenders Law (Fin. Code, §§ 22000 et seq.), CashCall asserts that it has carte blanche to charge any interest rate it wishes on loans of \$2500 or more. It asserts that the Finance Lenders Law only regulates interest rates on loans below \$2500.

CashCall developed, as its signature product, an unsecured \$2600 loan with a 42- or 35-month term, using only simple interest, and without prepayment penalty, and it charged more than 96 percent and 135 percent interest on these loans. CashCall does not even offer a loan below \$2500 because it finds it more profitable to require consumers to take out loans of \$2600 with exorbitant interest rates. The interest rates on these loans, CashCall maintains, are beyond judicial scrutiny, even under California law barring unconscionable loan terms. This has the twin effect of making it difficult for consumers to get any loans below \$2500, and requiring consumers to pay excessive interest rates on any loan of \$2500 or more.

CashCall's position, however, is contrary to California law. The California Legislature fully protected consumers in the Finance Lenders

Law. It did so not only by setting caps on interest rates for loans below \$2500. It also (a) explicitly incorporated California's unconscionability statute (Civ. Code, § 1670.5) into the Finance Lenders Law; (b) deemed unconscionable terms a violation of the Finance Lenders Law; and (c) empowered courts to remedy unconscionable terms in any loan under the Finance Lenders Law through injunctive relief, restitution, and other remedies.

This Court has now been asked to decide whether the interest rate on a loan of \$2500 or more may render the loan unconscionable and in violation of the Finance Lenders Law. The question arises in this consumer class action against CashCall which Plaintiffs brought under the unlawful prong of the Unfair Competition Law. For the reasons stated below, the Court should hold that the interest rate on consumer loans of \$2500 or more may render the loans unconscionable under Financial Code § 22302.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Facts

During the class period, CashCall made a total of 135,288 loans of \$2,600 at 96% or 135% interest, with loan durations of 42 months and 35 months, respectively. (Excerpts of Record ("E.R.") 101-102, 104, 108.) CashCall's extremely high interest rates resulted in costs to the borrowers of 3 to 4 times the loan amount. For CashCall's 96% loan, the total loan payments were \$9,150, or 3.5 times the amount borrowed. (E.R. 111.) For its 135% loan, the total loan payments were even greater—nearly \$11,000, or 4.25 times the amount borrowed. (E.R. 111; Supplemental Excerpts of Record ("S.E.R.") 23, 280-281, 352, 1482, 1493-1494.)

CashCall persuaded many Class Members to borrow at these rates by targeting subprime borrowers with its advertising—that is, those with FICO scores below 660. (E.R. 102.) CashCall's advertising pinpointed financially strapped consumers in need of ready cash with promises to them of "cash now" and visual images of floating \$100 bills. (E.R. 342-43, S.E.R. 481.) Individuals facing financial and other stress tend to make poor financial decisions. (S.E.R. 27, 42, 46-85.) The response of Class Members to CashCall's promise of "cash in a hurry" with "no security of any kind . . . just your signature" reflected their state of heightened financial stress. (E.R. 112 & 113, S.E.R. 25, 42, 46-85, 125-126, 127-128, 153, 175, 460, 463, 466, 469, 472, 481.)

CashCall aggressively advertised to such borrowers, particularly on television, with advertising expenses accounting for nearly 20% of CashCall's total operating costs. (S.E.R. 22, 457, 977, 1774.)<sup>1</sup> CashCall's advertising objective was to get TV viewers to pick up the telephone immediately and call for a loan—encouraging them to "Make the CashCall." (E.R. 513, S.E.R. 25, 120--124, 129-130, 133-137, 140, 1691.) CashCall's advertising appealed to the viewer's immediate need for money and the ease of quickly meeting that need, minimizing information provided to the viewer about the cost of the loans, and directing him or her toward appealing information—such as ready cash and a low monthly payment—while deflecting the borrower away from critical information about the loan's real cost and risks. (S.E.R. 25, 42, 46-85, 125-126, 127-128, 153, 175, 460, 463, 466, 469, 472.)

CashCall built a 35-40% "acceptable default rate" into its lending program—knowing that almost half the individuals to whom it lent \$2,600 would be unable to make all payments required by the loans' terms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CashCall built these substantial advertising costs into the interest rates it charged borrowers, resulting in even higher interest rates: advertising costs accounted for more than half of the 25% origination costs input into CashCall's profitability model. (S.E.R. 23, 2421-2422, 2464-2465, 2466.)

(S.E.R. 21, 290-291, 492-493, 2425-2427, 2435-2437, 2443-2445, 2450-2451.)<sup>2</sup> What CashCall refers to as an "acceptable default rate" of 35-40%, however, camouflages the personal, financial, and family stress and credit turmoil that CashCall and its aggressive collection practices inflicted upon its borrowers:

- CashCall made repeated, continual, and excessive collection telephone calls to borrowers. (S.E.R. 24, 285-288, 330- 337, 379-380, 382, 384-387, 390, 397-398, 431.)
- CashCall had a business practice of threatening consumers with fees and charges, visits to home and workplaces, and legal remedies it could not pursue. (S.E.R. 25, 338, 383, 391-396, 435-442.)
- CashCall's adverse credit reporting financially damaged delinquent and defaulting borrowers' credit standing and made it more difficult for them to obtain credit in the future. (S.E.R. 25, 288-289.)

Borrowers fell for CashCall's promise of "cash in a hurry" as a way to get out of short-term financial stress, only to find themselves trapped in loans with interest of 96% or 135% for three years or more. (See S.E.R. 495.)

## II. Procedural History

On July 1, 2008, Plaintiffs filed a class action complaint in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California against CashCall. (E.R. 242.) In their most recent operative pleading, Plaintiffs allege, among other claims, that CashCall made loans at interest rates and on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Approximately 74,000 class members—more than 50% of the Class—were late with at least one payment and fell into CashCall's collection process. (S.E.R. 24, 284, 2785.)

other terms that were unconscionable. (E.R. 222 (¶ 75.) Plaintiffs assert the claim under the unlawful prong of the Unfair Competition Law, Bus. & Prof. Code, §§ 17200 et seq. ("UCL"), predicated on a violation of section 22302 of the Finance Lenders Law, which applies Civil Code section 1670.5 to all loans under the Finance Lenders Law and deems unconscionable loan terms to be in violation of the Finance Lenders Law. (*Id.*)

On November 14, 2011, the district court granted in part Plaintiffs' motion for class certification and certified Plaintiffs' UCL unlawful claim (the Unconscionability Claim) for class treatment. (E.R. 158.) The court defined the Class as follows: "All individuals who, while residing in California, borrowed from \$2,500 to \$2,600 at an interest rate of 90% or higher from CashCall, Inc., for personal, family, or household use at any time from June 30, 2004, to the present." (E.R. 151.)

On October 17, 2013, CashCall moved for summary judgment on Plaintiffs' UCL unlawful claim. (E.R. 118.) After extensive briefing and oral argument, the district court denied the motion. It held that CashCall was not entitled to summary judgment on the issue of whether its loans were unconscionable. (E.R. 41 & 42.) In so ruling, the court credited Plaintiffs' argument that "the loan terms are oppressive on their face because they combine a high rate of interest with a lengthy repayment period, in which borrowers must repay interest prior to principal." (E.R. 37.) The court otherwise declined to address CashCall's argument that it lacked the judicial authority to find that CashCall's interest rates were unconscionable or to fashion appropriate equitable relief. (E.R. 42.)

On September 18, 2014, CashCall moved for reconsideration. It argued again that the court lacked the judicial authority to determine that CashCall's interest rates were unconscionable when the loans were made. This time, the court granted summary judgment to CashCall. (E.R. 1.) It

concluded that it could not decide whether CashCall's interest rates were unconscionable because doing so would "impermissibly require" it to "regulate economic policy." (E.R. 3-6.) This was so, it reasoned, because the California Legislature had not set a maximum interest rate for CashCall's loans, all of which were for more than \$2500. (E.R. 6.) The district court then directed the entry of judgment to CashCall on the UCL claim pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 54(b). (E.R. 46.)

Plaintiffs appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, seeking reversal of the district court's ruling on the UCL unlawful claim. For its part, CashCall cross-appealed, asking the Ninth Circuit to reverse the district court's order on class certification if Plaintiffs succeed in their appeal on the merits.

After briefing and oral argument, the Court issued an opinion requesting a decision from this Court on a question of California law. (*De La Torre v. CashCall, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2017) 854 F.3d 1082.) Then, pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548, subd. (e), Plaintiffs asked this Court to rephrase the question presented. Plaintiffs pointed out that their unconscionability claims are not based on the interest rate alone, but on the combined terms of CashCall's loans taken in their entirety in the commercial context in which they were made. (Letters of Arthur D. Levy to the Court, dated May 10 and May 27, 2017.)

CashCall opposed Plaintiffs' request, asking that "the issue be limited to that framed by the Ninth Circuit." (Letter of Brad W. Seiling to Court, dated May 15, 2017.)

On June 14, 2017, this Court granted the Ninth Circuit's request and accepted the certified question as written. This brief is tailored accordingly.

### **ARGUMENT**

# I. An Unconscionable Interest Rate on a Loan of \$2500 or More Violates the Finance Lenders Law.

CashCall's unsecured consumer loans are governed by the California Finance Lenders Law. (Fin. Code, §§ 22200 et seq.; all undesignated statutory references are to this code.) This Court has been asked to decide whether the interest rate on a loan of \$2500 or more may render the loan unconscionable under section 22302. The text, history, and background of the relevant provisions of this law, including sections 22302 and 22303, establish that the answer is yes.

A. The Finance Lenders Law's text plainly establishes that the interest rate on a loan of \$2500 or more can render the loan unconscionable.

The Court should first examine the text of the relevant provisions of the Finance Lenders Law because "the statutory language is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent." (*Scher v. Burke* (2017) 3 Cal. 5th 136, 143 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).) "If the statutory language is unambiguous, we presume the Legislature meant what it said, and the plain meaning of the statute controls." (*Miklosy v. Regents of Univ. of California* (2008) 44 Cal. 4th 876, 888.)

In giving words their ordinary meaning, this Court "accord[s] significance, if possible, to every word, phrase and sentence in pursuance of the legislative purpose," and avoids "[a] construction making some words surplusage . . . ." (*Dyna-Med, Inc. v. Fair Employment & Housing Com.* (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1379, 1387.) But "[t]he words of the statute must be construed in context, keeping in mind the statutory purpose, and statutes or statutory sections relating to the same subject must be harmonized, both internally and with each other, to the extent possible." (*Id.*)

With these background principles in mind, the Court should examine section 22302, which instructs, in subdivision (a), that "Section 1670.5 of the Civil Code applies to the provisions of a loan contract that is subject to this division." (§ 22302, subd. (a).) This language accomplishes two goals. First, it expressly recognizes that the California unconscionability statute (Civil Code § 1670.5) applies to all loans made under the Finance Lenders Law. Under California law, courts may refuse to enforce any contract found "to have been unconscionable at the time it was made," or may "limit the application of any unconscionable clause." (Civ. Code, § 1670.5, subd. (a).)

Second, this sentence "applies" unconscionability law "to the provisions of a loan contract that is subject to this division." (§ 22302, subd. (a) emphasis added).) Charges, including interest, are among the "provisions of a loan contract . . . subject to this division." (Id.; see § 22200 ("Charges' include the aggregate interest, fees, bonuses, commissions, brokerage, discounts, expenses, and other forms of costs charged, . . ."); see also § 22300 ("No licensee shall directly or indirectly charge, contract for, or receive any interest or charge of any nature unless a loan is made.").)

Thus, unconscionability law "applies" to the interest rates and other "charges" of all loans under the Finance Lenders Law, and an interest rate may be found unconscionable under established unconscionability principles. (See § 22302.)

Next, subdivision (b) provides: "A loan found to be unconscionable pursuant to Section 1670.5 of the Civil Code shall be deemed to be in violation of this division and subject to the remedies specified in this division." (§ 22302, subd. (b).) Accordingly, a court may declare a loan provision unconscionable in violation of the Finance Lenders law and award broad monetary and equitable relief, including an injunction and

restitution, in an action brought by the commissioner or attorney general. (See §§ 22302, 22713.)

The neighboring provision of the Financial Code, section 22303, establishes a maximum rate of "charges" on certain loans, specifically, interest. Different rates are set for different loan amounts:

Every licensee who lends any sum of money may contract for and receive charges at a rate not exceeding the sum of the following:

- (a) Two and one-half percent per month on that part of the unpaid principal balance of any loan up to, including, but not in excess of two hundred twenty-five dollars (\$225).
- (b) Two percent per month on that portion of the unpaid principal balance in excess of two hundred twenty-five dollars (\$225) up to, including, but not in excess of nine hundred dollars (\$900).
- (c) One and one-half percent per month on that part of the unpaid principal balance in excess of nine hundred dollars (\$900) up to, including, but not in excess of one thousand six hundred fifty dollars (\$1,650).
- (d) One percent per month on any remainder of such unpaid balance in excess of one thousand six hundred fifty dollars (\$1,650).
- (§ 22303.) The last sentence in section 22303, however, limits this section's application to loans in an amount less than \$2500: "This section does not apply to any loan of a bona fide principal amount of two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) or more as determined in accordance with Section 22251." (*Id.*) In turn, section 22251 defines the meaning of "bona fide principal amount'... as used in this division solely for the purposes of determining whether the loan amount exceeds a regulatory ceiling." (§ 22251.)

Sections 22302 and 22303, then, work in tandem to regulate

excessive charges in covered loans. Section 22302 generally applies California unconscionability law (Civ. Code § 1670.5) to *all* provisions in any loan covered by the Finance Lenders Law. (§ 22302.) It contains no exceptions or exemptions. And section 22303, also by its plain terms, regulates interest rates, but only for loans below \$2500. (§ 22303.) It expressly "does not apply" to loans of \$2500 or more. (*Id.*)

When there is overlap between statutes, the Court "must, where reasonably possible, harmonize statutes, reconcile seeming inconsistencies in them, and construe them to give force and effect to all of their provisions." (*State Dep't of Pub. Health v. Superior Court* (2015) 60 Cal. 4th 940, 955.) Here, the relationship between the two sections is revealed in three examples.

First, imagine a loan below \$2500 with an interest rate that exceeds the maximum rate specified in section 22303. The interest rate on this loan plainly violates section 22303. The interest rate and other terms may also be unconscionable in violation of section 22302. As such, there is no irreconcilable conflict in the operation of these two laws.

Next, assume a loan for less than \$2500 with an interest rate below the maximum rate specified in section 22303. The interest rate on this loan is permitted by section 22303. Thus, the interest rate cannot be deemed unconscionable under section 22302. (See §§ 22302, 22303.) This is because, in this example, the more specific provision, section 22303, directly answers whether the Legislature intended to allow a licensee to charge interest at this rate. (See Code Civ. Proc., § 1859 ("when a general and particular provision are inconsistent, the latter is paramount to the former").)

Finally, consider a loan of \$2500 or more with an excessive interest rate—like CashCall's signature loans of \$2600. This loan does not implicate section 22303 at all because it "does not apply" to loans for that

amount. (§ 22303.) But this loan may violate section 22302 if the excessive rate is found to be unconscionable. (§ 22302.) In this scenario, there is no overlap between section 22302 and 22303, and hence no conflict. Thus, section 22302 can be given full force and effect, and this does not diminish section 22303, which is simply inapplicable on these facts.

The New Mexico Supreme Court is, to Plaintiffs' knowledge, the only other Supreme Court to consider a similar contention to CashCall's that legislative repeal of an interest rate cap demonstrates a public policy in favor of unlimited interest rates. (State ex rel. King v. B & B Inv. Grp., Inc. (2014) 329 P.3d 658; compare De La Torre, 854 F.3d at 1087 (noting CashCall's argument that the 1985 amendment to § 22303 effectively repealed the interest rate cap on loans between \$2500 and \$5000] and demonstrates a public policy favoring unlimited interest rates).) The New Mexico Supreme Court rejected that argument, finding that the public policy of the state did not permit excessive charges. Such charges could still be deemed unconscionable in violation of the laws of New Mexico. including its Unfair Practice Act; and courts could fashion appropriate equitable remedies. (Id. at 674.) The New Mexico Supreme Court noted that the defendants had specifically designed the loan products at issue "to make an end run around the consumer protections" provided by the New Mexico legislature in its Small Loan Act but held that the such attempts did not immunize the defendants from other laws that prohibit unconscionable loan practices. Id.; see also Drogorub v. Payday Loan Store of WI, Inc. (2012 Wis. App.) 826 N.W.2d 123; 2012 WL 6571696.) (unpublished) (affirming trial court judgment holding that 294% interest rate charged was part of an unconscionable course of conduct); James v. Nat'l Fin., LLC, 132 A.3d 799, 805 (Del. Ch. 2016) (one-year, non-amortizing, unsecured cash advance of \$200, with APR of 838.45%, held unconscionable).)

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