No. S241434



SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

OCT 16 2017

IN THE SUPREME COURT

FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

---

**EDUARDO DE LA TORRE *et al.*,**

---

Deputy

*Plaintiffs, Appellants, and Cross-Appellees,*

vs.

**CASHCALL, INC.,**

*Defendant, Appellee, and Cross-Appellant.*

---

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

On a Certified Question from the United States Court of Appeals for the  
Ninth Circuit, Case No. 14-17571  
[Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.548]

---

**MANATT, PHELPS & PHILLIPS, LLP**

Brad W. Seiling (Bar No. CA 143515)

Donald R. Brown (Bar No. CA 156548)

\*Joanna S. McCallum (Bar No. CA 187093)

11355 West Olympic Boulevard

## I. INTRODUCTION

The Ninth Circuit asked whether the interest rate on loans of \$2,500 or more, governed by California Financial Code Section 22303, can be unconscionable under Section 22302.<sup>1</sup> The answer is no. The California Finance Lender Law (FLL, Fin. Code, § 22000 et seq.) comprehensively regulates consumer finance lending, and the Legislature has chosen to exempt loans of \$2,500 or more from *any* rate regulation. This is not mere legislative silence. It reflects the Legislature’s deliberate policy decision to *remove* pre-existing interest rate caps on loans of \$2,500 or more and to allow the market to set rates on these loans. In doing so, the Legislature stated that consumer finance lenders like CashCall, Inc. “can charge whatever interest rate they want” on these loans, which are “exempt from the interest rate ceilings of the Financial Code.”<sup>2</sup> The Legislature was clear about what it was doing: “[t]he effect of lowering the interest rate ceiling [from \$5,000 to \$2,500] is to eliminate rate regulation as a form of regulation of loans made under these laws.”<sup>3</sup>

Plaintiffs want to re-impose an interest rate cap by obtaining a judicial determination that the fully disclosed interest rates on more than 135,000 of CashCall’s loans are unconscionable. The effect of Plaintiffs’ lawsuit would be a judicially created interest rate cap of 90 percent (or some other rate determined by the federal court overseeing this case). That result is contrary to the express terms of the FLL.

---

<sup>1</sup> All undesignated statutory references are to the Financial Code.

<sup>2</sup> Motion for Judicial Notice (MJN) Ex. 2.

<sup>3</sup> MJN Ex. 3. “Ceiling” means the highest principal loan amount subject to statutory limits (or “caps”) on interest rates. The FLL legislative history occasionally refers to an interest rate cap itself as a “ceiling.”

Section 22303 is part of a comprehensive, uniform regulatory scheme overseen by the Department of Business Oversight (Department). Plaintiffs' interpretation would upend that uniform regulatory scheme and turn interest rate regulation into an ad hoc judicial process with each court free to impose its own interest rate cap. That is clearly not what the Legislature intended when it amended the FLL in 1985.

Plaintiffs' interpretation would also undermine two of the purposes of the FLL. First, allowing court-imposed interest rate caps would restrict access to credit. CashCall makes loans to subprime borrowers who have poor credit histories and present a higher risk of default than prime borrowers. The interest rates CashCall and other lenders charge on subprime loans reflect the high cost and risk of lending to such borrowers. Interest rate deregulation promotes access to credit by providing lenders the flexibility to make credit available in markets where the cost otherwise would be prohibitive. The uncertainty and unpredictability imposed by ad hoc decisions of "unconscionability"—a vague and malleable concept that offers scant guidance for adjudicating interest rate challenges on an individual, let alone class- or industry-wide, basis—would drive lenders out of the market, depriving consumers of credit options.

Second, allowing borrowers to challenge fully disclosed interest rates would undermine competition. Rather than setting rates based on competitive market forces, lenders would be forced to set their rates in compliance with prior court injunctions, or in anticipation of how some future unknown court would evaluate their rates. Different courts might impose different "not unconscionable" rates based on each judge's view of the facts and arguments presented in a particular case. The consumer credit market would become largely irrelevant as it devolved from a uniform

regulatory regime to ad hoc adjudications “with no prospect of certainty or stability in the respective rights and duties of the parties.” (*Harris v. Capital Growth Investors XIV* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 1142, 1167, superseded by statute on other grounds, Civ. Code, § 52, subd. (f).)

The answer to the Ninth Circuit’s question is no. Allowing a court to adjudicate Plaintiffs’ claim is directly contrary to the Legislature’s policy decision to remove the interest rate caps on these loans.

## II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. CashCall’s Business Model.

CashCall is a licensed finance lender that offers unsecured term loans to subprime borrowers. (4-SER-931 ¶ 14, 4-SER-933 ¶ 18.<sup>4</sup>) Historically, traditional lenders, like banks, would not lend to subprime borrowers, who have been limited to alternative loan products, such as payday loans, tax refund anticipation loans, and auto title loans, which carry many unfavorable terms, in addition to very high interest rates.<sup>5</sup> (4-SER-941 ¶ 39; 4-SER-953 ¶ 72; 4-SER-983.) CashCall’s loans, in contrast, did not impose onerous risk-shifting terms, such as prepayment penalties or requiring security. (7-SER-1492-93 ¶¶ 3-6.)

Offering unsecured subprime loans is risky, because these borrowers default at significantly higher rates than prime borrowers. (7-SER-1493 ¶

---

<sup>4</sup> “ER” and “SER” refer, respectively, to the Excerpts of Record and Supplemental Excerpts of Record filed in the Ninth Circuit.

<sup>5</sup> The loans at issue here are not payday loans, which are regulated under a separate statutory framework that permits annual percentage rates (APRs) of 460 percent or more. (See Fin. Code, § 23035, subd. (a); *id.*, § 23036, subd. (a); [http://www.dbo.ca.gov/forms/CDDTL/CDDTL-001-Payday\\_Loan\\_Trifold\\_PDF-FINAL-\(Rev.08-13\).pdf](http://www.dbo.ca.gov/forms/CDDTL/CDDTL-001-Payday_Loan_Trifold_PDF-FINAL-(Rev.08-13).pdf), at p. 2 [“A 15% fee is equivalent to an annual percentage rate (APR) of 460% for a two-week loan.”].)

5; 4-SER-931 ¶ 13.) CashCall seeks to limit the default risk through careful underwriting, which resulted in it rejecting more than 72 percent of loan applications. (7-SER-1493 ¶ 5.) Nonetheless, 45 percent of the Class members defaulted on their loans—a slightly higher default rate than the 40 percent rate that CashCall anticipates in its profitability model. (6-SER-1264 ¶ 21.) Neither figure is an “acceptable default rate,” as Plaintiffs argue. (Petitioners’ Opening Brief (POB) pp. 3-4.) Rather, the default rates demonstrate the high costs and risk inherent in lending to subprime borrowers, which is why CashCall must charge higher interest rates. (4-SER-937 ¶ 28; 4-SER-938 ¶ 31.) Plaintiffs’ own expert agreed that CashCall must charge higher rates: “by pursuing a high-volume, unsecured consumer lending model targeted at higher risk, subprime borrowers, CashCall incurs higher expenses in the form of advertising costs, cost of funds and default costs, which ultimately increases the annual percentage rate (APR) CashCall must charge borrowers in order to achieve its targeted profitability.” (4-SER-1093-94 ¶ 99; see also 4-SER-1085 ¶ 85; 5-SER-1118:9-1119:3; 5-SER-1140:10-1141:2.)

CashCall used trial and error to determine the appropriate interest rate for its loans. Prior to the Class period, the interest rate for CashCall’s \$2,600 loan product (the amount borrowed by nearly all Class members) was 79 percent. But CashCall could not make a profit at that rate due to its high costs and the high default rate, so it raised the rate to 87 percent, and then to 96 percent, where the rate remained from August 2005 to July 2009, when CashCall raised it to 135 percent. (7-SER-1493-94 ¶ 8, 1497 ¶ 23, 1499 ¶ 35.) Notwithstanding these admittedly high interest rates, CashCall did not make excessive profits, and did not even reach its targeted profitability of 15-20 percent. (1-ER-41:15-17; 7-SER-1499 ¶ 34.)

Under its broad authority to regulate finance lenders (*see* Fin. Code §§ 22704-22718, 22750-22752), the Department conducted comprehensive, multi-week onsite audits of CashCall in 2004, as well as in 2007 (when the interest rate was 96 percent) and 2010 (when the interest rate was 135 percent). (8-SER-1696-97, 1914-24.) During these examinations, the Department reviewed extensive documentation regarding CashCall's loans and communications with borrowers. (8-SER-1696 ¶ 13.) The Department never took regulatory action against CashCall based on its interest rates. (8-SER-1696-97 ¶¶ 14-16.)

**B. The Competitive California Credit Market.**

The California credit market, including the subprime market, is highly competitive. According to Plaintiffs' consumer protection experts, "thousands" of comparable loans were available to Class members. (5-SER-1147:6-1148:2, 5-SER-1247-50 ¶¶ 11-16.)

The undisputed evidence also showed that CashCall's interest rates compare favorably to other loans available to subprime borrowers. During the Class period, the average APR on payday loans ranged from 411 percent to 429 percent; the APR on tax refund anticipation loans averaged 149 percent; and the APR on auto title loans ranged from 120 percent to 300 percent. (4-SER-983.)

In addition, the Department's annual reports evidence a robust market for loans. (3-SER-516-669.) For example, when the operative complaint in this action was filed in 2010, the Department reported that licensed lenders made 253,878 unsecured loans. (3-SER-638; *see also* 3-SER-516-798; MJN.) The Department's reports also show that CashCall's interest rates are not outliers. In 2010, for example, a total of 37,077 loans

were made with principal amounts of \$2,500 or more and APRs of 100 percent or more, and 28,950 loans of \$2,500 or more were made with APRs between 40 and 99 percent, many of which undoubtedly exceeded Plaintiffs' 90 percent unconscionability cut-off. (3-SER-641-642; MJN.) The Department's annual reports for other years during the Class period confirm that, in each year, there were tens of thousands of loans at rates exceeding Plaintiffs' 90 percent unconscionability cut-off. (3-SER-516-798; MJN.)

**C. CashCall's Disclosure of Interest Rates and Loan Terms.**

CashCall does not “deflect[] the borrower from critical information about the loan's real cost and risk,” as Plaintiffs argue. (POB p. 3.) To the contrary, CashCall's interest rate disclosures exceeded regulatory requirements. Whenever CashCall's advertisements mentioned interest, they stated the highest rate or noted generally that the loans carried a high interest rate. (7-SER-1692 ¶ 7.) CashCall's website always included links to interest rate information. (6-SER-1262 ¶¶ 8-9.) In addition, CashCall's loan agents disclosed the interest rate whenever an applicant asked about loan terms—a practice evidenced by recordings of Class member loan applications. (4-SER-810-11 ¶¶ 18-24; 4-SER-908-921; 3-SER-506.)

CashCall's promissory notes included prominent Truth-in-Lending Act (TILA) disclosures that listed the annual percentage rate (APR), the finance charge, the amount financed, and the total payments if the loan went to term. (6-SER-1465; 6-SER-1264 ¶ 19; 6-SER-1469; 6-SER 1263 ¶ 16.) All promissory notes after August 2005 (when the interest rate was raised to 96 percent) contained the following disclaimer:

**THIS LOAN CARRIES A VERY HIGH INTEREST**

**RATE. YOU MAY BE ABLE TO OBTAIN CREDIT UNDER MORE FAVORABLE TERMS ELSEWHERE. EVEN THOUGH THE TERM OF THE LOAN IS 42 MONTHS, WE STRONGLY ENCOURAGE YOU TO PAY OFF THE LOAN AS SOON AS POSSIBLE . . . .**

(6-SER-1263 ¶ 15) (capitalization and bolding in original.)

After the loan funded, CashCall sent each borrower an email that reiterated all material loan terms, including the interest rate. CashCall would also make a “Welcome Call” to each borrower, during which CashCall reiterated the loan terms, including the interest rate. (4-SER-810 ¶ 16; 6-SER-1263-64 ¶ 17.) At any time, borrowers could review an online amortization schedule that listed every scheduled payment, including the amount applied to principal and interest. (6-SER-1264 ¶¶ 18, 19.)

**D. The Class.**

The Class is defined as: “All individuals who, while residing in California, borrowed from \$2,500 to \$2,600 at an interest rate of 90% or higher from CashCall, Inc., for personal, family, or household use at any time from June 30, 2004, to July 10, 2011.”<sup>6</sup> (2-ER-195:5-7.)<sup>7</sup> A total of 135,288 loans were made to Class members. (6-SER-1261 ¶ 3.)

The average Class member’s FICO score was less than 600, well

---

<sup>6</sup> Plaintiffs’ selection of the 90 percent interest rate cut-off was a tactical response to CashCall’s argument in opposition to class certification that individual issues predominated because the interest rates varied. Their revised class definition excluded the original plaintiff, whose loan carried a 59 percent interest rate (5-SER-1232:22-24), as well as borrowers with loans that had interest rates of 79 percent and 87 percent. Those rates are admittedly high compared to rates charged to prime borrowers. However, under Plaintiffs’ theory, these rates apparently would not be unconscionable. That sort of arbitrary line-drawing underscores that Plaintiffs’ theory amounts to economic regulation plain and simple.

<sup>7</sup> See *O’Donovan v. CashCall, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 2011) 278 F.R.D. 479.



below the cut-off for borrowers to be considered subprime.<sup>8</sup> (4-SER-935-36 ¶ 24.) Class members testified about bankruptcies, defaults, and other problems that limited their credit options, and many of those who testified (including the class representatives) used alternative loan products, such as payday loans and auto title loans. (5-SER-1176:10-25, 1185:3-15, 1192:7-15, 1193:13-1194:1, 1204:2-19, 1223:7-22; 2-SER-348:20-22, 361:16-362:8, 368:19-369:22.)

The performance of the Class loans clearly demonstrates the risks of lending to subprime borrowers. Despite CashCall's careful underwriting practices, 45 percent of the loans to the Class (60,981) defaulted. (6-SER-1264 ¶ 21.) Approximately a quarter (33,315) of the Class repaid less than \$2,600 (*i.e.*, less than they borrowed from CashCall), and 5,401 borrowers defaulted without making a single payment. (*Id.*; 4-SER-1064 ¶ 25.)

Borrowers are not “trapped into loans . . . for three years or more,” as Plaintiffs argue. (POB p. 4.) Class members who repaid their loans heeded CashCall's advice to do so early. Of the 135,288 Class loans, 58,857 (43.5 percent) were repaid prior to the due date—5,651 within one month, and 23,728 within six months. Only 8,858 loans were repaid after going to full maturity. (6-ER-1261 ¶ 4.)

CashCall only allows borrowers to take one loan at a time, so a borrower cannot use one CashCall loan to repay another (unlike payday loans). (*Id.*) A total of 29,039 Class members (21.5 percent) took out multiple CashCall loans during the Class period. (6-SER-1261-62 ¶ 5.) The CashCall loans apparently were not “poor financial decisions” for these

---

<sup>8</sup> A FICO score is a numerical grade of a borrower's credit history. (4-SER-931 ¶ 14.) A FICO score of less than 660 is generally considered subprime. (*Id.*)

repeat customers.

**E. Procedural History.**

Plaintiffs filed suit in federal court in the Northern District of California on July 1, 2008. (2-ER-242.) The operative fourth amended complaint was filed on February 25, 2010. (2-ER-222.)

On November 15, 2011, the district court certified a class for Plaintiffs' claim that the interest rates standing alone were "unlawful" under Business & Profession Code section 17200 et seq. (the UCL). (2-ER-186-91.) The court declined to certify the claim that the same loans were "unfair" under the UCL based on other loan terms. (*Id.* at p. 192.)

On July 30, 2014, the court denied CashCall's motion for summary judgment (1-ER-7<sup>9</sup>) but subsequently granted reconsideration (1-ER-1<sup>10</sup>) and entered judgment in CashCall's favor on the unconscionability claim. (2-ER-46.) Plaintiffs appealed to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals, and CashCall filed a cross-appeal challenging the order certifying the Class.

Following briefing and argument, the Ninth Circuit issued an order requesting that this Court decide a question of state law under California Rules of Court, rule 8.548(a):

The central issue in this case is whether the interest rates on consumer loans of \$2500 or more that are governed by California Financ[ial] Code § 22303, which provides no interest rate limitations on such loans, can be deemed unconscionable under California Financ[ial] Code § 22302 and thus be the predicate for a private cause of action under the California Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"). The answer to this question could determine the outcome of this matter and there is no controlling precedent.

---

<sup>9</sup> *De La Torre v. CashCall, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 2014) 56 F.Supp.3d 1073.

<sup>10</sup> *De La Torre v. CashCall, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. 2014) 56 F.Supp.3d 1105.

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